

Post-Lie-Magnus expansion and BCH-recursion

Mahdi Jasim Hasan Al-Kaabi, Kurusch Ebrahimi-Fard, Dominique Manchon

▶ To cite this version:

Mahdi Jasim Hasan Al-Kaabi, Kurusch Ebrahimi-Fard, Dominique Manchon. Post-Lie-Magnus expansion and BCH-recursion. 2021. hal-03325479v1

HAL Id: hal-03325479 https://hal.science/hal-03325479v1

Preprint submitted on 24 Aug 2021 (v1), last revised 23 Mar 2022 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

POST-LIE MAGNUS EXPANSION AND BCH-RECURSION

MAHDI J. HASAN AL-KAABI, KURUSCH EBRAHIMI-FARD, AND DOMINIQUE MANCHON

ABSTRACT. We identify the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff recursion driven by a weight $\lambda = 1$ Rota– Baxter operator with the Magnus expansion relative to the post-Lie structure naturally associated to the corresponding Rota–Baxter algebra.

Keywords: Post-Lie algebra, pre-Lie algebra, Rota–Baxter algebra, Magnus expansion, BCH-formula, rooted trees. MSC Classification: 16T05; 16T10; 16T30; 17A30.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Post-Lie algebras	3
2.1. The universal enveloping algebra of a post-Lie algebra	4
2.2. Free post-Lie Algebras	5
2.3. Post-Lie structure on a Rota–Baxter algebra	7
3. Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff (BCH)-recursion	7
4. Magnus Expansion	9
4.1. Post-Lie Magnus Expansion	9
4.2. Inverse Post-Lie Magnus Expansion	11
5. Post-Lie Magnus Expansion and BCH-recursion	12
Appendix A. Calculations on post-Lie Magnus expansion	14
Appendix B. Computations on the inverse post-Lie Magnus expansion	14
References	14

1. INTRODUCTION

The well-known Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff (BCH) formula BCH(x, y) is a formal power series, which lives in the completion of the free Lie algebra $\mathcal{L}(x, y)$ generated (over a base field K of characteristic zero) by the two non-commutating variables x and y. It is defined by:

$$\exp(x)\exp(y) = \exp(\operatorname{BCH}(x, y)) = \exp(x + y + \operatorname{BCH}(x, y))$$

or

$$BCH(x, y) = \log(\exp(x)\exp(y)) = x + y + \widetilde{BCH}(x, y).$$

Date: 22/08/2021.

KEF is on sabbatical leave at the Saarland University, Department of Mathematics, 66123 Saarbrücken, Germany.

It plays a prominent role in modern mathematics 1[3, 7].

A fruitful connection between the BCH-series and the notion of Rota–Baxter algebra has been explored in [13, 14, 15]. The latter originated in the seminal 1960 article [5] by the American mathematician G. Baxter, which in turn was motivated by F. Spitzer's 1956 article [33]. Baxter's algebra was further developed foremost in the commutative realm in the 1960s and '70s by P. Cartier, G.-C. Rota and F. V. Atkinson, among others, from algebraic, combinatorial and analytic viewpoints. We refer the reader to the review article [20] as well as the monograph [23] for details.

A weight- λ Rota–Baxter operator on an associative *K*-algebra \mathcal{A} is a *K*-linear map $\mathcal{R} : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}$, satisfying the Rota–Baxter identity of weight $\lambda \in K$:

$$\mathcal{R}(x)\mathcal{R}(y) = \mathcal{R}(\mathcal{R}(x)y + x\mathcal{R}(y) + \lambda xy), \qquad x, y \in \mathcal{A}.$$
 (1)

For example, the indefinite Riemann integral satisfies (1) when the weight $\lambda = 0$ (integration by parts). The linear map $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} := -\lambda i d_{\mathcal{R}} - \mathcal{R}$ is also Rota–Baxter of weight λ , and satisfies together with \mathcal{R} the mixed identity

$$\mathcal{R}(x)\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(y) = \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\mathcal{R}(x)y) + \mathcal{R}(x\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(y)), \qquad x, y \in \mathcal{A}.$$

Starting from a Rota–Baxter operator \mathcal{R} of weight λ , the BCH-recursion [15] is defined by:

$$\chi_{\lambda}(a) := a + \frac{1}{\lambda} \widetilde{\mathrm{BCH}}\Big(\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}(a)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}(a))\Big), \qquad a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
⁽²⁾

It lies at the heart of the solution of an exponential factorisation problem [15] and thereby permits the generalisation of a classical result for commutative Rota–Baxter algebras, known as Spitzer's identity [33], to non-commutative Rota–Baxter algebras. The resulting non-commutative Spitzer identity says that for $a \in \mathcal{A}$ the exponential

$$X := \exp\left(\mathcal{R}\left(\chi_{\lambda}\left(\frac{\log(1+t\lambda a)}{\lambda}\right)\right)\right)$$

solves the fixed point equation in $\mathcal{A}[[t]]$

$$X = 1 + t\mathcal{R}(aX). \tag{3}$$

Here the formal parameter *t* commutes with all elements in \mathcal{A} . More precisely, iterating the fixed point equation (3) yields the rather non-trivial equality

$$1 + t\mathcal{R}(a) + t^{2}\mathcal{R}(a\mathcal{R}(a)) + t^{3}\mathcal{R}(a(\mathcal{R}(a\mathcal{R}(a)))) + \cdots = \exp\left(\mathcal{R}\left(\chi_{\lambda}\left(\frac{\log(1 + t\lambda a)}{\lambda}\right)\right)\right).$$

Thanks to the commuting parameter t, the last equality can be seen as between formal power series and therefore encompasses at each order a specific relation between coefficients. For instance, at order two, that is, comparing the coefficients of t^2 , we have the identity

$$2\mathcal{R}(a\mathcal{R}(a)) = \mathcal{R}(a)\mathcal{R}(a) - \mathcal{R}([\mathcal{R}(a), a] + \lambda a^2),$$

which is easily verifiable in a Rota–Baxter algebra of weight λ by using the Rota–Baxter identity (1) on the righthand side. We note that the fixed point equation (3) is reminiscent of the integral fixed

¹The remainder Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff series, $\widetilde{BCH}(x, y)$, is denoted by BCH(x, y) in [15]. We adopt here a more conventional notation.

3

point equation naturally associated to a linear matrix-valued initial value problem; the indefinite Riemann integral is a weight-zero Rota–Baxter map. Indeed, the series (2) turns out to be closely related to a well-known Lie algebra expansion due to W. Magnus [24]. This connection to the so-called Magnus expansion was studied in reference [15] in the case of the weight being zero ($\lambda = 0$). The adequate algebraic setting is provided through the notion of pre-Lie algebra, which is naturally defined on any non-commutative Rota–Baxter algebra. In [16] it was shown that the pre-Lie Magnus expansion can be expressed in terms of the BCH-recursion as follows:

$$\Omega_{\rhd}'(a) := a + \sum_{n>0} \frac{B_n}{n!} L_{\rhd}^{(n)}[\Omega_{\rhd}'(a)](a) = \chi_{\lambda} \Big(\frac{\log(1+\lambda a)}{\lambda}\Big).$$
(4)

Here B_n is the n-th Bernoulli number and $L_{\triangleright}[x](y) = L_{\triangleright}^{(1)}[x](y) := x \triangleright y$ is the left-multiplication operator defined in terms of the aforementioned (left) pre-Lie product, denoted \triangleright , on a non-commutative Rota–Baxter algebra. Note that the weight λ is absorbed in the definition of the pre-Lie product. In the weight-zero case of the indefinite Riemann integral, this pre-Lie product is defined for –matrix-valued–functions A, B as $(A \triangleright B)(t) := [\int_0^t A(s) ds, B(t)]$. When inserted in (4), one recovers Magnus' original expansion [24].

In this work, we are revisiting the BCH-recursion (2) and its relation to the Magnus expansion. This time, in the context of post-Lie algebra defined in terms of a Rota–Baxter operator of non-zero weight [4]. We will recall the abstract definition of the so-called post-Lie Magnus expansion in the context of the universal enveloping algebra of a post-Lie algebra. Our main result shows that the post-Lie Magnus expansion and the BCH-recursion in (2) coincide in the context of a Rota–Baxter algebra endowed with its naturally associated post-Lie structure.

We close this introduction by noting that the Magnus expansion, in its various forms (classical [24, 27], pre-Lie [1, 10, 16] and post-Lie [17, 18, 19, 26]), has been studied in applied mathematics, control theory, physics and chemistry. See reference [6] for details on the classical Magnus expansion in applied mathematics. The reader can also find a brief summary in the recent work [12].

This paper consists of four sections accompanied by two appendices. In section 2, we review some basic topics related to post-Lie algebras and their universal enveloping algebras. The post-Lie structure defined on any Rota–Baxter algebra is recalled from [4]. Section 3 contains the description of the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff recursion and its inverse, as well as their properties. Several important details on the post-Lie Magnus expansion and its inverse are included in section 4. Section 5 is the main part of this work, in which the identification of the post-Lie Magnus expansion with the BCH-recursion is proven. Finally, the two appendices A and B contain low-order computations of the post-Lie Magnus expansion and its inverse.

Acknowledgments. The first author was funded by the Iraqi Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research. He would like to thank the Department of Mathematics at the University of Bergen, Norway, for warm hospitality during a visit in 2021, which was partially supported by the project Pure Mathematics in Norway, funded by Trond Mohn Foundation and Tromsø Research Foundation. He would also like to thank Mustansiriyah University, College of Science, Mathematics Department for their support in carrying out this work. The second author is supported by the

Research Council of Norway through project 302831 "Computational Dynamics and Stochastics on Manifolds" (CODYSMA). The third author is supported by Agence Nationale de la Recherche, projet CARPLO ANR20-CE40-0007.

2. Post-Lie Algebras

A post-Lie algebra is a Lie algebra $(\mathcal{L}, [.,.])$ together with a bilinear mapping $\triangleright : \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L} \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}$, which is compatible with the Lie bracket in the following sense:

$$x \triangleright [y, z] = [x \triangleright y, z] + [y, x \triangleright z]$$
(5)

$$[x, y] \triangleright z = a_{\triangleright}(x, y, z) - a_{\triangleright}(y, x, z), \tag{6}$$

for any $x, y, z \in \mathcal{L}$. Here, $a_{\triangleright}(x, y, z)$ is the associator defined by:

$$a_{\rhd}(x, y, z) = x \rhd (y \rhd z) - (x \rhd y) \rhd z.$$

Any Lie algebra can be seen as a post-Lie algebra by setting the second product \triangleright to zero. Another possibility is to take for the second product \triangleright the opposite of the Lie bracket.

A (left) pre-Lie algebra is an abelian post-Lie algebra, i.e., a post-Lie algebra with Lie bracket set to zero. The defining relation is the left pre-Lie identity

$$0 = a_{\triangleright}(x, y, z) - a_{\triangleright}(y, x, z).$$
(7)

We refer the reader to [25] for a short survey on pre-Lie algebras. The post-Lie operation \triangleright permits to produce two other operations:

$$\llbracket x, y \rrbracket := x \triangleright y - y \triangleright x + [x, y], \tag{8}$$

$$x \blacktriangleright y := x \triangleright y + [x, y], \tag{9}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{L}$. From (5) and (6), one can see that $(\mathcal{L}, \llbracket, . .\rrbracket)$ forms a Lie algebra, denoted $\tilde{\mathcal{L}}$. In the case of an abelian post-Lie algebra, this amounts to Lie admissibility of pre-Lie algebras. The triple $(\mathcal{L}, -\llbracket, . .\rbrack, \blacktriangleright)$ forms another post-Lie algebra [12, 28] sharing the same double Lie bracket, i.e.

$$\llbracket x, y \rrbracket = x \triangleright y - y \triangleright x + \llbracket x, y \rrbracket = x \blacktriangleright y - y \triangleright x - \llbracket x, y \rrbracket$$

For more details on post-Lie algebras, we refer to [11, 17, 18, 28] and references therein.

2.1. The universal enveloping algebra of a post-Lie algebra. Inspired by the work of J.-M. Oudom and D. Guin in the pre-Lie context [22], the authors in [17] consider the enveloping algebra $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$ of the Lie algebra $(\mathcal{L}, [., .])$ underlying a post-Lie algebra $(\mathcal{L}, [., .], \triangleright)$. The post-Lie product \triangleright is then extended to $\mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}) \rightarrow \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$ by requiring $x \triangleright \mathbf{1} := 0$ and

$$x \triangleright (x_1 \cdots x_n) := \sum_{i=1}^n x_1 \cdots x_{i-1} (x \triangleright x_i) x_{i+1} \cdots x_n, \tag{10}$$

for all $x, x_1, \ldots, x_n \in \mathcal{L}$. Here, **1** denotes the unit in $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$. Recall that the enveloping algebra $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$ together with the concatenation as product and the deshuffle coproduct has the structure of a non-commutative, co-commutative Hopf algebra. The deshuffle coproduct Δ is defined for all letters $x \in \mathcal{L} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$, by $\Delta(x) := x \otimes \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{1} \otimes x$ and extended multiplicatively. We employ Sweedler's notation, $\Delta(X) := X_{(1)} \otimes X_{(2)}$, for the coproduct of any $X \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$. The final definition of the extended post-Lie product on $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$, together with its properties, is given by the next two propositions.

Proposition 1. [17, Proposition 3.1] *There is a unique extension of the post-Lie product* \triangleright *from* \mathcal{L} *to* $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$ *satisfying:*

$$1 \vartriangleright X = X,$$

$$xX \vartriangleright y = x \vartriangleright (X \vartriangleright y) - (x \rhd X) \vartriangleright y,$$

$$X \vartriangleright YZ = (X_{(1)} \vartriangleright Y)(X_{(2)} \vartriangleright Z),$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{L}$, and $X, Y, Z \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$.

Proposition 2. [17, Proposition 3.2] *The extended post-Lie product* \triangleright *on* $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$ *possesses the following properties:*

$$\begin{split} X \rhd \mathbf{1} &= \epsilon(X), \\ \epsilon(X \rhd Y) &= \epsilon(X)\epsilon(Y), \\ \Delta(X \rhd Y) &= (X_{(1)} \rhd Y_{(1)}) \otimes (X_{(2)} \rhd Y_{(2)}), \\ xX \rhd Y &= x \rhd (X \rhd Y) - (x \rhd X) \rhd Y, \\ X \rhd (Y \rhd Z) &= (X_{(1)}(X_{(2)} \rhd Y)) \rhd Z, \end{split}$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{L}$ and $X, Y, Z \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$, where $\epsilon : \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}) \to K$ is the counit map.

From the last equality in Proposition 2, an associative product, known as Grossman–Larson product, can be defined on $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$ as follows:

$$X * Y := X_{(1)}(X_{(2)} \triangleright Y), \tag{11}$$

for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$. As an example, for any $x, y \in \mathcal{L}$, we find $x * y = x \triangleright y + xy$, since any element of \mathcal{L} is primitive. The Grossman–Larson product (11) defines together with the coproduct Δ another structure of Hopf algebra on $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L})$. The corresponding antipode will be denoted by S_* . The Hopf algebras ($\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}), *, \Delta$) and ($\mathcal{U}(\tilde{\mathcal{L}}), ., \Delta$) are isomorphic [15, Section 3], [22, Section 2].

Remark 3. Conversely, the product of the enveloping algebra can be expressed in terms of the Grossman–Larson product and the deshuffle coproduct as follows:

$$XY = X_{(1)} * (S_*X_{(2)} \triangleright Y).$$
(12)

This is seen by plugging (11) into the right-hand side of (12).

2.2. Free post-Lie Algebras. F. Chapoton and M. Livernet presented in [9] the free pre-Lie algebra in terms of (non-planar) decorated rooted trees. Similarly, H. Munthe-Kaas and A. Lundervold gave in [28] an explicit description of the free post-Lie algebra in terms of formal Lie brackets of planar decorated rooted trees. Let us briefly review this construction: a magma is a set *M* together with a binary operation, without any further properties. For any (non-empty) set *E*, the set of all parenthe-sized words on the alphabet *E* is the free magma over *E*, denoted *M*(*E*). A practical presentation of it can be given in terms of planar rooted trees. Indeed, consider the set T_E^{pl} of all planar rooted trees with vertices decorated by *E*, and let $\stackrel{\circ}{\searrow}$ denote the left Butcher product defined on T_E^{pl} as:

$$\sigma^{\mathsf{O}}_{\mathsf{V}}\tau = B^{e}_{+}(\sigma\tau_{1}\tau_{2}\cdots\tau_{k}),\tag{13}$$

for $\sigma, \tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_k \in T_E^{pl}$ and $\tau := B_+^e(\tau_1 \tau_2 \cdots \tau_k)$. Here, B_+^e is the operation defined by grafting a monomial $\tau_1 \tau_2 \cdots \tau_k$ of *E*-decorated rooted trees on a common root decorated by some element *e* in *E*, to obtain a new tree. For example (in the undecorated context):

$$\bullet \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{V}, \qquad \bullet \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{V}, \qquad \mathbf{I} \mathbb{I} = \mathbb{V}.$$

Denote by \mathcal{T}_E^{pl} the linear span of the set T_E^{pl} . Besides the left Butcher product, \mathcal{S} , this space has another magmatic product defined through left grafting, denoted \mathcal{S} and defined by

$$\sigma \searrow \tau = \sum_{\nu \text{ vertex of } \tau} \sigma \searrow_{\nu} \tau, \tag{14}$$

where $\sigma \searrow_v \tau$ is the tree obtained by grafting the root of the tree σ onto the vertex *v* of the tree τ , such that σ becomes the leftmost branch starting from vertex *v*. See for example references [2, 8]. Computing some examples (in the undecorated context) we find:

$$\bullet\searrow \mathtt{I}=\mathtt{V}+\overset{\mathtt{I}}{\mathtt{I}}, \quad \mathtt{I}\searrow \overset{\mathtt{I}}{\mathtt{I}}=\overset{\mathtt{I}}{\mathtt{V}}+\overset{\mathtt{I}}{\mathtt{V}}+\overset{\mathtt{I}}{\mathtt{I}}$$

By freeness universal property, there is a unique morphism of magmatic algebras

$$\begin{split} \Psi : (\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}, \mathbb{S}) &\longrightarrow (\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}, \mathbb{S}) \\ \tau &\longmapsto e_\tau := \Psi(\tau) \end{split}$$

such that $\Psi(\bullet_a) = \bullet_a$ for any $a \in E$, which is a linear isomorphism. A detailed account of the map Ψ can be found in [2].

Let $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})$ be the free Lie algebra generated by \mathcal{T}_E^{pl} . It can be endowed with a structure of post-Lie algebra by extending the aforementioned left grafting, \searrow , as follows:

$$\sigma \searrow [\tau, \tau'] = [\sigma \searrow \tau, \tau'] + [\tau, \sigma \searrow \tau'],$$
$$[\sigma, \tau] \searrow \tau' = a_{\searrow}(\sigma, \tau, \tau') - a_{\searrow}(\tau, \sigma, \tau'),$$

for all $\sigma, \tau, \tau' \in \mathcal{T}_E^{pl}$. The triple $(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}), [., .], \searrow)$ is the free post-Lie algebra generated by E ([31], see also [28, 29]).

Recall that an *E*-decorated planar forest $f = \tau_1 \cdots \tau_n$ is a (non-commutative) product of *E*decorated planar rooted trees $\tau_i \in T_E^{pl}$, i = 1, ..., n. Denote by F_E^{pl} the set of all *E*-decorated planar forests, and by \mathcal{F}_E^{pl} its linear span. The space \mathcal{F}_E^{pl} forms together with the concatenation product the free associative algebra generated by \mathcal{T}_E^{pl} . The left grafting, \searrow , defined by (14) on \mathcal{T}_E^{pl} can be generalized to a grafting of forests as follows:

• Left grafting a tree on a forest is also defined by (14). We thus have

$$\sigma\searrow ff'=(\sigma\searrow f)f'+f(\sigma\searrow f'),$$

for any tree $\sigma \in T_E^{pl}$ and any two forests $f, f' \in F_E^{pl}$.

• The left grafting of a forest $f = \tau_1 \cdots \tau_k$ onto a forest f' is the sum of forests obtained by summing over all ways of successively left grafting the trees τ_k, \ldots, τ_1 to any node of f'.

The well-known (planar) Grossman–Larson product on \mathcal{F}_E^{pl} is defined by [21]:

$$f \star f' := B_{-}(f \searrow B^{e}_{+}(f')), \tag{15}$$

where B_{-} is the left inverse operation of B_{+}^{e} , which removes the root of a tree and thus produces a forest. This product endows the space \mathcal{F}_{E}^{pl} with a structure of an non-commutative associative unital algebra, called the Grossman–Larson algebra. This algebra acts naturally on \mathcal{T}_{E}^{pl} by extended left grafting:

$$(f \star f') \searrow \tau := f \searrow (f' \searrow \tau),$$

for all $f, f' \in \mathcal{F}_E^{pl}$ and $\tau \in \mathcal{T}_E^{pl}$. The universal enveloping algebra $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}))$ of the free post-Lie algebra $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})$ can be identified with \mathcal{F}_E^{pl} . More precisely,

Proposition 4. [17, Proposition 3.5] *The universal enveloping algebra* $(\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})), *)$ *is identical to the Grossman–Larson algebra* $(\mathcal{F}_E^{pl}, \star)$.

2.3. **Post-Lie structure on a Rota–Baxter algebra.** Recall that a Rota–Baxter algebra of weight $\lambda \in K$ is a unital associative *K*-algebra \mathcal{A} together with a linear operator $\mathcal{R} : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}$, which satisfies the Rota–Baxter identity²:

$$\mathcal{R}(x)\mathcal{R}(y) = \mathcal{R}\big(\mathcal{R}(x)y + x\mathcal{R}(y) + \lambda xy\big),\tag{16}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$. The identity (16) is called the Rota–Baxter identity of weight λ . There is another Rota–Baxter operator, of weight λ , defined on \mathcal{A} by:

$$\mathcal{R} := -\lambda \, id_{\mathcal{R}} - \mathcal{R}.\tag{17}$$

The two maps satisfy the mixed identity $\mathcal{R}(x)\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(y) = \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\mathcal{R}(x)y) + \mathcal{R}(x\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(y))$ for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$.

Recall that a unital algebra is said to be complete filtered if it is equipped with a separating complete filtration

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_0 \supseteq \mathcal{A}_1 \supseteq \mathcal{A}_2 \supseteq \cdots \supseteq \mathcal{A}_n \supseteq \cdots$$

by ideals [13]. Separation means that the intersection of the \mathcal{A}_n 's is equal to {0}, and completeness refers to the topology associated with the filtration, so that any series $a = \sum_{n\geq 1} a_n$ with $a_n \in \mathcal{A}_n$ converges in \mathcal{A} . The filtration is moreover supposed to be compatible with the product, i.e., $\mathcal{A}_{n_1}\mathcal{A}_{n_2} \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{n_1+n_2}$ for any $n_1, n_2 \geq 0$. A Rota–Baxter algebra is said to be complete filtered if it is equipped with a separating complete filtration by Rota–Baxter ideals, i.e., by ideals \mathcal{A}_n stable by the Rota–Baxter operator.

The Rota–Baxter Algebra $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R})$ of weight λ has a structure of a post-Lie algebra defined by the following operations:

$$[x, y]_{\lambda} := \lambda[x, y] \tag{18}$$

$$x \triangleright y := [\mathcal{R}(x), y], \tag{19}$$

for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$. We leave it to the reader to show that the operations in (18), (19) satisfy the post-Lie identities (5) and (6) (see [4, § 5.2]). As expected, the post-Lie algebra $(\mathcal{A}, [., .]_{\lambda}, \triangleright)$ reduces to a (left) pre-Lie algebra in the case of a weight zero Rota–Baxter algebra. Indeed, if $\lambda = 0$, the product \triangleright defined by (19) verifies the left pre-Lie identity (7).

 $^{^{2}}$ The convention for the weight is with the opposite sign in [15].

3. BAKER-CAMPBELL-HAUSDORFF (BCH)-RECURSION

We give here a brief account of the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff recursion, which was defined and explored in [13, 14, 15]. Let $\mathcal{A} = K \langle \langle x, y \rangle$ be the free complete (non-commutative) associative *K*-algebra of formal power series generated by non-commuting variables *x* and *y*. The Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff expansion BCH(*x*, *y*) is the element in \mathcal{A} satisfying the following equation:

$$\exp(x)\exp(y) = \exp(\operatorname{BCH}(x, y)). \tag{20}$$

The first terms are given by

$$BCH(x, y) = x + y + \widetilde{BCH}(x, y)$$

= $x + y + \frac{1}{2}[x, y] + \frac{1}{12}[x, [x, y]] - \frac{1}{12}[y, [x, y]] - \frac{1}{24}[x, [y, [x, y]]] + \cdots,$

where [x, y] := xy - yx is the usual commutator of x and y in \mathcal{A} . See, e.g., [7] for details.

Proposition 5. [15, Proposition 1] Let \mathcal{A} be a complete filtered K-algebra, and let \mathcal{R} be a K-linear map preserving the filtration of \mathcal{A} . There exists a unique (usually non-linear) map $\chi : \mathcal{A}_1 \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}_1$, such that $(\chi - id_{\mathcal{A}})(\mathcal{A}_n) \subset \mathcal{A}_{2n}$, for all $n \ge 1$, and

$$BCH\left(\mathcal{R}(\chi(x)), \overline{\mathcal{R}}(\chi(x))\right) = x, \qquad (21)$$

for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_1$, where $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} := id_{\mathcal{A}} - \mathcal{R}$. This map is bijective, and its inverse is:

$$\chi^{-1}(x) = \operatorname{BCH}\left(\mathcal{R}(x), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) = x + \widetilde{\operatorname{BCH}}(\mathcal{R}(x), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)).$$
(22)

As a consequence of (21), we have the exponential factorization

$$\exp\left(\mathcal{R}(\chi(x))\right)\exp\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi(x))\right) = \exp(x),\tag{23}$$

for any $x \in \mathcal{A}_1$. Note also that (21) yields the non-linear BCH-recursion

$$\chi(x) := x - \widehat{\mathrm{BCH}}(\mathcal{R}(\chi(x)), \mathcal{R}(\chi(x))),$$
(24)

for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_1$.

Lemma 6. [15] Let \mathcal{A} be a complete filtered (associative) algebra. According to the nature of the linear map $\mathcal{R} : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}$, we have the following cases:

(1) If \mathcal{R} preserves the filtration of \mathcal{A} , then the map χ given by (24), can be simplified:

$$\chi(x) = x + \widetilde{\mathrm{BCH}}\Big(-\mathcal{R}(\chi(x)), x\Big), \qquad \forall x \in \mathcal{A}_1.$$
(25)

(2) If \mathcal{R} is an idempotent algebra homomorphism, which preserves the filtration of \mathcal{A} , then the map χ in (25) is further simplified, namely $\chi(x) = x + \widetilde{BCH}(-\mathcal{R}(x), x)$.

Proof. See [15, Lemmas 6, 7].

The BCH-recursion in the Rota–Baxter algebra framework is given as follows in the case where the weight λ is different from zero:

Proposition 7. [15, Proposition 11] Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R})$ be a complete filtered Rota–Baxter algebra of weight $\lambda \neq 0$, and set $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} := -\lambda i d_{\mathcal{A}} - \mathcal{R}$. The λ -weighted BCH-recursion is written:

$$\chi_{\lambda}(x) = x + \frac{1}{\lambda} \widetilde{\text{BCH}}\Big(\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}(x)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}(x))\Big),$$
(26)

for all $x \in \mathcal{A}_1$. It can be simplified to:

$$\chi_{\lambda}(x) = x - \frac{1}{\lambda} \widetilde{\operatorname{BCH}} \Big(- \mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}(x)), \lambda x \Big).$$

Its inverse is given by:

$$\chi_{\lambda}^{-1}(x) = x - \frac{1}{\lambda} \widetilde{\operatorname{BCH}}(\mathcal{R}(x), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)).$$

Moreover, the factorization obtained in (21) becomes:

$$\exp\left(\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}(x))\right)\exp\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}(x))\right) = \exp(-\lambda x).$$
(27)

The expansion χ_{λ} can be written as the infinite sum:

$$\chi_{\lambda}(x) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \chi_{\lambda}^{(n)}(x),$$

where $\chi_{\lambda}^{(n)} \in \mathcal{A}_n$ is the *n*-th homogenous component of the BCH-recursion. Here, we write the components $\chi_{\lambda}^{(n)}$ up to order n = 4 using the post-Lie algebra notation (18) and (19).

$$\begin{split} \chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x) &= x, \\ \chi_{\lambda}^{(2)}(x) &= \frac{1}{2\lambda} \left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)) \right] \\ &= \frac{1}{2\lambda} \left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \left(-\lambda i d_{\mathcal{R}} - \mathcal{R}\right)(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)) \right] = -\frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{R}(x), x \right] = -\frac{1}{2} x \vartriangleright x, \\ \chi_{\lambda}^{(3)}(x) &= \frac{1}{2\lambda} \left(\left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(2)}(x)) \right] + \left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(2)}(x)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)) \right] \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{12\lambda} \left(\left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)) \right] \right] - \left[\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \left[\mathcal{R}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)), \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\chi_{\lambda}^{(1)}(x)) \right] \right] \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} (x \vartriangleright x) \rhd x + \frac{1}{12} x \rhd (x \rhd x) + \frac{1}{12} [x \rhd x, x]_{\lambda}, \\ \chi_{\lambda}^{(4)}(x) &= \frac{\lambda - 1}{24} x \rhd ((x \rhd x) \rhd x) - \frac{\lambda + 1}{24} (x \rhd x) \rhd (x \rhd x) + \frac{\lambda - 3}{24} ((x \rhd x) \rhd x) \rhd x) \rhd x \\ &- \frac{\lambda + 1}{24} (x \rhd (x \rhd x)) \rhd x + \frac{1}{24} [x, x \rhd (x \rhd x) + (x \rhd x) \rhd x]_{\lambda}. \end{split}$$

4. MAGNUS EXPANSION

W. Magnus [24] considered the problem of expressing the solution of the matrix-valued linear initial value problem $\dot{Y}(t) = M(t)Y(t)$, $Y(0) = Y_0$ as an exponential [6, 27]

$$Y(t) = \exp(\Omega(M)(t))Y_0.$$

The Magnus expansion, $\Omega(M)(t) = \log(Y(t))$, is determined by the particular differential equation

$$\dot{\Omega}(M) := M + \sum_{n>0} \frac{B_n}{n!} a d_{\Omega(M)}^{(n)}(M)$$

$$= \operatorname{dexp}_{\Omega(M)}^{-1}(M)$$
(28)

$$=\frac{ad_{\Omega(M)}}{e^{ad_{\Omega(M)}}-1}(M),$$
(29)

with $\Omega(M)(0) = 0$. Here, B_n are the Bernoulli numbers and $ad_{M_1}^{(n)}(M_2) := ad_{M_1}^{(n-1)}([M_1, M_2])$, $ad_{M_1}^{(0)}(M_2) = M_2$. Defining the pre-Lie product, $(M_1 \triangleright M_2)(t) := [\int_0^t M_1(s)ds, M_2(t)]$, we can rewrite (29) using the left-multiplication operator defined in terms of the pre-Lie product

$$\dot{\Omega}(M) = \frac{L_{\rhd}[\Omega(M)]}{e^{L_{\rhd}[\dot{\Omega}(M)]} - 1}(M).$$

4.1. **Post-Lie Magnus Expansion.** We consider now the universal enveloping algebra $\mathcal{F}_E^{pl} := \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}))$ of the free post-Lie algebra $(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}), [., .], \searrow)$, graded by the number of vertices of the forests. Denote by $\mathcal{U}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}))$ its completion with respect to the grading. Any element of the completion can be written as a so-called *Lie-Butcher series* [17, 28, 29]

$$\alpha = \sum_{f \in F_E^{pl}} \langle \alpha, f \rangle f,$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathcal{U}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})}) \otimes \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})) \to K$ is the natural pairing defined on any pair (f, f') of forests by:

$$\langle f, f' \rangle = \begin{cases} 0, & f \neq f' \\ 1, & f = f'. \end{cases}$$

The deshuffle coproduct, Δ , is naturally extended to the completion. The set $Prim(F_E^{pl})$ consists in primitive elements (*infinitesimal characters*), whereas $G(F_E^{pl})$ denotes the set of group-like elements (*characters*):

$$\operatorname{Prim}(F_E^{pl}) := \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{U}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})}) \mid \Delta(\alpha) = \mathbf{1} \otimes \alpha + \alpha \otimes \mathbf{1} \} = \widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})},$$
(30)

$$G(F_E^{pl}) := \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})) \mid \Delta(\alpha) = \alpha \otimes \alpha \}.$$
(31)

Both products on $\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl}))$ –the concatenation and the Grossman–Larson product (15)– can also be extended to products on the completion $\mathcal{U}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})})$). As a result, two different exponential functions can be defined on $\mathcal{U}(\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})})$, namely:

$$\exp^*(f) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{f^{*n}}{n!} = \mathbf{1} + f + \frac{1}{2}f * f + \frac{1}{6}f * f * f + \cdots$$
$$\exp(f) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{f^n}{n!} = \mathbf{1} + f + \frac{1}{2}ff + \frac{1}{6}fff + \cdots$$

Both these exponential functions map $\operatorname{Prim}(F_E^{pl})$ bijectively onto $G(F_E^{pl})$. See [17] for details. The post-Lie Magnus expansion χ is the bijective map from $\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})}$ onto itself defined by:

$$\exp^*(\chi(f)) = \exp(f), \tag{32}$$

namely:

$$\chi(f) = \log^* (\exp(f)). \tag{33}$$

Introducing a formal commuting indeterminate *t*, it can also be described as $\chi(ft) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \chi^{(n)}(f)t^n$, where $\chi^{(n)}(f)$ is the *n*-th order component of the post-Lie Magnus expansion χ . The latter is defined recursively by $\chi^{(1)}(f) = f$, and [17, 18, 19]:

$$\chi^{(n)}(f) := \frac{f^n}{n!} - \sum_{k=2}^n \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\substack{p_1 + \dots + p_k = n \\ p_i > 0}} \chi^{(p_1)}(f) * \chi^{(p_2)}(f) * \dots * \chi^{(p_k)}(f).$$
(34)

The computation of $\chi^{(n)}(f)$ for the first five values of *n* is displayed in Appendix A below. Comparing with the computations at the end of Section 3, one observes that, up to order n = 4, the coefficient $\chi^{(n)}(f)$ coincides with the coefficient $\chi^{(n)}_{\lambda}(f)$ of the BCH-recursion – if the weight $\lambda = 1$. We shall prove this fact at any order in Theorem 14 below.

Remark 8. By universal property of the free post-Lie algebra, the post-Lie Magnus expansion defined above gives rise to a post-Lie-Magnus expansion in any complete filtered post-Lie algebra. If the underlying Lie algebra is Abelian, then the post-Lie Magnus expansion is reduced to the so-called pre-Lie Magnus expansion.

Remark 9. We may deduce a Magnus-type differential equation similar to (28) for the post-Lie Magnus expansion (33), by differentiating $\exp^*(\chi(ft)) = \exp(ft)$ with respect to *t*. This results in

$$\dot{\chi}(ft) = \exp_{-\chi(ft)}^{*-1} (\exp^{*}(-\chi(ft)) \triangleright f), \qquad \chi(0) = 0.$$
(35)

4.2. Inverse Post-Lie Magnus Expansion. The inverse post-Lie Magnus expansion θ is the bijective map from $\widehat{\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{T}_E^{pl})}$ onto itself given by the following formula:

$$\theta(f) = \log\left(\exp^*(f)\right) \tag{36}$$

or

$$\exp(\theta(f)) = \exp^*(f). \tag{37}$$

The homogeneous component $\theta^{(n)} = \theta^{(n)}(f)$ of degree *n* of the expansion

$$\theta(ft) = \sum_{k \ge 1} \theta^{(k)}(f) t^k$$

is given by $\theta^{(1)}(f) = f$ and the following recursive formula [17]:

$$\theta^{(n)}(f) = \frac{1}{n} \bigg(\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \dots + k_j = n-1 \\ k_i > 0}} (\theta^{(k_1)} \theta^{(k_2)} \cdots \theta^{(k_j)}) \rhd f + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{B_j}{j!} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \dots + k_j = n-1 \\ k_i > 0}} ad_{\theta^{(k_1)}} \cdots ad_{\theta^{(k_j)}} f + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left(\sum_{q=1}^{j-1} \frac{B_q}{q!} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \dots + k_q = j-1 \\ k_i > 0}} ad_{\theta^{(k_1)}} \cdots ad_{\theta^{(k_q)}} \right) \bigg(\sum_{p=1}^{n-j} \frac{1}{p!} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \dots + k_p = n-j \\ k_i > 0}} (\theta^{(k_1)} \theta^{(k_2)} \cdots \theta^{(k_p)}) \rhd f) \bigg) \bigg),$$
(38)

where $ad_{\theta^{(i)}}(f) := [\theta^{(i)}, f]$, and the B_i 's are the Bernoulli numbers. The computation of the first $\theta^{(n)}$'s is given in Appendix B.

Remark 10. The same fact, described in Remark 8, will be repeated again in the case of the inverse post-Lie Magnus Expansion. In other words, the formula in (38) for the inverse post-Lie Magnus

expansion is reduced, in the case of commutative post-Lie algebras, to the inverse pre-Lie Magnus expansion formula [1] described below. See also [16, 25].

$$W(x) := \frac{e^{L_{\rhd}[x]} - 1}{L_{\rhd}[x]}(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n+1)!} L_{\rhd}^{(n)}x.$$
(39)

Remark 11. Similar to Remark 9, we may deduce a Magnus-type differential equation similar to (28) for the inverse post-Lie Magnus expansion [17, 19]

$$\dot{\theta}(ft) = \operatorname{dexp}_{-\theta(ft)}^{-1}(\operatorname{exp}(\theta(ft)) \rhd f), \qquad \theta(0) = 0.$$
(40)

5. POST-LIE MAGNUS EXPANSION AND BCH-RECURSION

We now show that the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff recursion driven by a weight $\lambda = 1$ Rota– Baxter operator identifies with the Magnus expansion relative to the post-Lie structure naturally associated to the corresponding Rota–Baxter algebra.

Theorem 12. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R})$ be a complete filtered Rota–Baxter algebra of weight $\lambda = 1$. We have the following equality in $\widehat{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A})}$ for any $x \in \mathcal{A}$ and $t \in K$:

$$\exp^*(tx) = \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right),\tag{41}$$

where $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} = -id_{\mathcal{R}} - \mathcal{R}$, and * is the associative product defined in (11), using the post-Lie product $x \triangleright y = [\mathcal{R}(x), y]$.

The proof of this theorem will rely on the following proposition:

Proposition 13. In any complete filtered Rota–Baxter algebra $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{R})$ of weight $\lambda = 1$, we have the following identity in $\widehat{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A})}$:

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}\exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right)\exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) = \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right)x^{*n}\exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right).$$
(42)

Proof. The proof goes by induction. The base case k = 0 is trivial. For k = 1, we have in $\widehat{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A})}$:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) = \exp\left(t(id_{\mathcal{R}} + \mathcal{R})(x)\right)(id_{\mathcal{R}} + \mathcal{R})(x) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) - \exp\left(t(id_{\mathcal{R}} + \mathcal{R})(x)\right)\mathcal{R}(x) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) = \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right)x \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right).$$

Now, suppose that the statement is true in the case k = n - 1, i.e.:

$$\frac{d^{n-1}}{dt^{n-1}} \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) = \exp(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)) x^{*n-1} \exp(-t\mathcal{R}(x))$$

We then get:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d^n}{dt^n} \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) &= \frac{d}{dt} \frac{d^{n-1}}{dt^{n-1}} \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) x^{*n-1} \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) (id_{\mathcal{R}} + \mathcal{R})(x) x^{*n-1} \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) - \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) x^{*n-1}\mathcal{R}(x) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) (xx^{*n-1} + \mathcal{R}(x)x^{*n-1} - x^{*n-1}\mathcal{R}(x)) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \left(xx^{*n-1} + x \rhd x^{*n-1}\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \left(x * x^{*n-1}\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) x^{*n} \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right).$$

Which means that (42) is true for k = n, and it is true for all $n \ge 0$. This ends the proof.

Proof of Theorem 12. We have that:

$$\frac{d^n}{dt^n}\exp^*(tx) = x^{*n}\exp^*(tx),$$

thus,

$$\frac{d^n}{dt^n}\Big|_{t=0} \exp^*(tx) = \frac{d^n}{dt^n}\Big|_{t=0} \exp\left(-t\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right) \exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right), \text{ for all } n \ge 0.$$

One can therefore conclude that both members of (41) do coincide as infinite formal series. \Box

Theorem 14. The post-Lie Magnus expansion χ , described in (33), coincides with the weighted BCH-recursion χ_{λ} recursively given by (26), with weight $\lambda = 1$.

Proof. From Equation (27), specialized to $\lambda = 1$, and by setting $\theta_{BCH} := \chi_1^{-1}$, we obtain that:

$$\exp\left(-\theta_{BCH}(tx)\right) = \exp\left(t\mathcal{R}(x)\right)\,\exp\left(t\mathcal{R}(x)\right)\tag{43}$$

in $\widehat{\mathcal{U}(\mathcal{A})}$, which is equivalent to

$$\exp\left(\theta_{BCH}(tx)\right) = \exp\left(-t\overline{\mathcal{R}}(x)\right)\exp\left(-t\mathcal{R}(x)\right). \tag{44}$$

From (36), (41) and (44) we have:

$$\exp(\theta_{BCH}(tx)) = \exp^*(tx) = \exp(\theta(tx)).$$
(45)

Then the two θ 's, namely the inverse BCH-recursion in (44) and the inverse post-Lie Magnus expansion (45), do coincide.

Appendix A. Calculations on post-Lie Magnus expansion

The first five elements of the post-Lie Magnus expansion are:

$$\begin{split} \chi^{(1)}(f) &= f \\ \chi^{(2)}(f) &= -\frac{1}{2} f \rhd f \\ \chi^{(3)}(f) &= \frac{1}{12} f \rhd (f \rhd f) + \frac{1}{4} (f \rhd f) \rhd f + \frac{1}{12} [f \rhd f, f] \\ \chi^{(4)}(f) &= -\frac{1}{12} \left((f \rhd f) \rhd (f \rhd f) + (f \rhd (f \rhd f)) \rhd f + ((f \rhd f) \rhd f) \rhd f) \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{24} \left([f, f \rhd (f \rhd f)] + [f, (f \rhd f) \rhd f] \right) \\ \chi^{(5)}(f) &= -\frac{1}{720} f \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd f))) + \frac{1}{144} \left((f \rhd f) \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd f)) - f \rhd (((f \rhd f) \rhd f) \rhd f) - f \rhd ((f \rhd (f \rhd f)) \rhd f) - f \rhd ((f \rhd (f \rhd f)) \rhd f) - f \rhd ((f \rhd (f \rhd f)) \rhd f)) + f) \\ f \rhd ((f \rhd (f \rhd f)) \rhd f) - f \rhd (f \rhd ((f \rhd f) \rhd (f \rhd f)) \rhd f) + 5 ((f \rhd f)) \rhd (f \rhd f))) \\ f \to ((f \rhd (f \rhd f))) \rhd f) + 6 ((f \rhd f))) \\ f + 3 ((f \rhd (f \rhd f))) \rhd f) + 5 (f \rhd (f \rhd f))) \\ f + 3 (((f \rhd f) \rhd f))) \\ f + 3 (((f \rhd f) \rhd f))) \\ f + 3 ((f \rhd (f \rhd f)))) \\ f + 3 ((f \rhd (f \rhd f))) - f) \\ f + \frac{1}{180} [f, [f, f \rhd (f \rhd f)] - f > (f \rhd (f \rhd f))] - \frac{1}{120} \\ [f \rhd f, f \rhd (f \rhd f)] - \frac{1}{36} [f, (f \rhd f)) (f \rhd f)] - \frac{1}{720} [f, [f, [f, f \rhd f]]] \\ \end{split}$$

Appendix B. Computations on the inverse post-Lie Magnus expansion

Here, we calculate the first five inverse post-Lie Magnus elements:

$$\begin{split} \theta^{(1)}(f) &= f \\ \theta^{(2)}(f) &= \frac{1}{2}f \rhd f \\ \theta^{(3)}(f) &= \frac{1}{6}f \rhd (f \rhd f) + \frac{1}{12}[f, f \rhd f] \\ \theta^{(4)}(f) &= \frac{1}{24} \Big(f \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd f)) + [f, f \rhd (f \rhd f)] \Big) \\ \theta^{(5)}(f) &= \frac{1}{120}f \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd f))) + \frac{1}{80}[f, f \rhd (f \rhd (f \rhd f))] \\ &+ \frac{1}{720} \Big([f, [f, f \rhd (f \rhd f)]] - [f, [f, [f, f \rhd f]]] \Big) \\ &+ \frac{1}{120}[f \rhd f, f \rhd (f \rhd f)] - \frac{1}{240}[f \rhd f, [f, f \rhd f]] \end{split}$$

References

 A. Agrachev, R. Gamkrelidze, Chronological algebras and nonstationary vector fields, J. Sov. Math. 17, 1650–1675 (1981).

- [2] Mahdi J. Hasan Al-Kaabi, Monomial Bases for Free Pre-Lie Algebras, Séminaire Lotharingien de Combinatoire 71 (2014), Article B71b.
- [3] A. Arnal, F. Casas, C. Chiralt, A note on the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff series in terms of rightnested commutators, Mediterr. J. Math. 18, pp. 16 (2021).
- [4] C. Bai, L. Guo, X. Ni, Nonabelian generalized Lax pairs, the classical Yang–Baxter equation and PostLie algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. 297, number 2, 553–596 (2010)
- [5] G. Baxter, An analytic problem whose solution follows from a simple algebraic identity, Pacific J. Math. 10, 731–742 (1960).
- [6] S. Blanes, F. Casas, J.A. Oteo, J. Ros, Magnus expansion: mathematical study and physical applications, Phys. Rep. 470, 151–238 (2009).
- [7] A. Bonfiglioli, R. Fulci, *Topics in Noncommutative Algebra. The Theorem of Campbell, Baker, Hausdorff and Dynkin*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 2034, Springer 2012.
- [8] J.C. Butcher, An algebraic theory of integration methods, Math. Comp. 26 (117), 79–106 (1972).
- [9] F. Chapoton, M. Livernet, *Pre-Lie algebras and the rooted trees operad*, Int. Math. Res. Notices 8, 395–408 (2001).
- [10] F. Chapoton, F. Patras, *Pre-Lie algebras and the rooted trees operad*, Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 23, No. 4, 853–861 (2013).
- [11] C. Curry, K. Ebrahimi-Fard, H. Munthe-Kaas, *What is a post-Lie algebra and why is it useful in geometric integration*, in Numerical Mathematics and Advanced Applications ENUMATH 2017, Springer's Lecture Notes in Computational Science and Engineering 126, 429–437 (2018).
- [12] C. Curry, K. Ebrahimi-Fard, B. Owren, The Magnus Expansion and Post-Lie Algebras, Math. Comp. 89, 2785–2799 (2020).
- [13] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, L. Guo, D. Kreimer, Spitzer's identity and the algebraic Birkhoff decomposition in pQFT, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37, 11037–11052 (2004).
- [14] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, L. Guo, D. Kreimer, Integrable Renormalization II: the General case, Ann. H. Poincaré 6, 369–395 (2005).
- [15] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, L. Guo, D. Manchon, Birkhoff Type Decompositions and the Baker–Campbell– Hausdorff Recursion, Commun. Math. Phys. 267, 821–845 (2006).
- [16] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, D. Manchon, A Magnus- and Fer-type formula in dendriform algebras, Found. Comput. Math. 9, 295–316 (2008).
- [17] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, A. Lundervold, H. Munthe-Kaas, *On the Lie enveloping algebra of post-Lie algebra*, Journal of Lie Theory 25, No. 4, 1139–1165 (2015).
- [18] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, I. Mencattini, Post-Lie Algebras, Factorization Theorems and Isospectral Flows, in Discrete Mechanics, Geometric Integration and Lie–Butcher Series, 231–285, Ed. K. Ebrahimi-Fard and M. Linán Barbero, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics (2018).
- [19] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, I. Mencattini, H. Munthe-Kaas, Post-Lie Algebras and Factorization Theorems, J. Geom. Phys. 119, 19–33 (2017).
- [20] K. Ebrahimi-Fard, F. Patras, From iterated integrals and chronological calculus to Hopf and Rota-Baxter algebras, to appear in the series "Algebra and Applications", Vol. 3, Combinatorial algebras and Hopf algebras, ISTE Ltd-Wiley 2021. arXiv:1911.08766.
- [21] R. Grossman, R. G. Larson, Hopf-algebraic structure of families of trees, J. Algebra 126, 184–210 (1989).
- [22] D. Guin, J.-M. Oudom, On the Lie enveloping algebra of a pre-Lie algebra, Journal of K-Theory: K-Theory and its Applications to Algebra, Geometry, and Topology 2, 147–167 (2008).
- [23] L. Guo, Introduction to Rota–Baxter algebra, International Press 2012.

- [24] W. Magnus, *On the exponential solution of differential equations for a linear operator*, Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 7, 649–673 (1954).
- [25] D. Manchon, A short survey on pre-Lie algebras, in Noncommutative Geometry and Physics: Renormalisation, Motives, Index Theory, A. L. Carey Ed., ESI Lectures in Mathematics and Physics, European Mathematical Society, 89–102 (2011).
- [26] I. Mencattini, A. Quesney, P. Silva, Post-symmetric braces and integration of post-Lie algebras, J. Algebra 556, 547–580 (2020).
- [27] B. Mielnik, J. Plebanski, *Combinatorial approach to Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff exponents*, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré A XII, 215–254 (1970).
- [28] H. Munthe-Kaas, A. Lundervold, On post-Lie algebras, Lie–Butcher series and Moving Frames, Found. Comput. Math. 13, Issue 4, 583–613 (2013).
- [29] H. Munthe-Kaas, W. Wright, On the Hopf algebraic structure of Lie group integrators, Found. Comput. Math. 8, 227–257 (2008).
- [30] Ch. Reutenauer, Free Lie algebras, Oxford University Press, New York (1993).
- [31] B. Vallette, *Homology of generalized partition posets*, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra 208(2): 699-725 (2007).
- [32] N. J. A. Sloane, The On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences, oeis.org.
- [33] F. Spitzer, A combinatorial lemma and its application to probability theory, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 82, 323–339 (1956).

MATHEMATICS DEPARTMENT, COLLEGE OF SCIENCE, MUSTANSIRIYAH UNIVERSITY, PALESTINE STREET, P.O.Box 14022, BAGH-DAD, IRAQ.

Email address, Mahdi J. Hasan Al-Kaabi: mahdi.alkaabi@uomustansiriyah.edu.iq

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, NORWEGIAN UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, TRONDHEIM, NORWAY. *Email address*, Ebrahimi-Fard Kurusch: kurusch.ebrahimi-fard@ntnu.no

Laboratoire de Mathématiques Blaise Pascal, CNRS et Université Clermont-Auvergne (UMR 6620), 3 place Vasarély, CS 60026, F63178 Aubière, France.

Email address, Dominique Manchon: dominique.manchon@uca.fr